          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4  -------------------------------x

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          5

                       of the

          6

             COMMITTEE ON STATE And FEDERAL

          7  LEGISLATION

             (Held Jointly With)

          8  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

             -------------------------------x

          9                 October 28, 2002

                            Start:  10:35 a.m.

         10                 Recess: 12:05 p.m.

         11                 City Hall

                            Committee Room

         12                 New York, New York

         13

                  B E F O R E:

         14

                         MARIA BAEZ

         15                 Chairperson, State and Federal

                                         Legislation Committee

         16

                         DAVID WEPRIN,

         17                 Chairperson, Finance Committee

         18

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Joel Rivera

         19                                 Joseph Addabbo

                                            Eric Dilan

         20                                 Helen Sears

                                            Martin Golden

         21                                 Peter Vallone, Jr.

                                            Madeline Provenzano

         22                                 Robert Jackson

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Carolyn Maloney

          4  Congresswoman

             United States House of Representatives

          5

             Jeffrey Kay

          6  Assistant Director

             NYC Office of Management and Budget

          7

             Eduardo Castell

          8  Deputy Comptroller, External Relations

             NYC Comptroller's Office

          9

             Andrew Joseph

         10  Deputy Comptroller, Budget

             NYC Comptroller's Office

         11

             David Dyssegaard Kallick

         12  Senior Fellow

             Fiscal Policy Institute

         13

             Noreen Connell

         14  Executive Director

             Educational Priorities Panel

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION AND FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Good morning, and

          3  welcome to this joint hearing of the Committees of

          4  State and Federal Legislation, and Finance.  My name

          5  is Maria Baez, and I am Chair of the Committee on

          6  State and Federal Legislation.

          7                 Today, we will be considering

          8  Resolution 542, one of the most important

          9  resolutions this Council may ever take up.

         10  Resolution 542, sponsored by the Speaker, Finance

         11  Chair Weprin, Public Safety Chair Vallone, and

         12  myself, supports federal legislation, which would

         13  provide New York City with the opportunity to obtain

         14  the same community disaster loans, which the Federal

         15  government has provided to other localities faced

         16  with huge losses of revenues after a major disaster.

         17                 The Community Disaster Loan Program

         18  was written into the Federal Statue that provides

         19  for a federal response to major disasters in the

         20  1970s.  For 25 years, this law contained a provision

         21  authorizing cities and towns that faced large

         22  revenue losses due to a major disaster to apply for

         23  loans of up to 25 percent of their budgets.

         24                 If the city or town were so hurt by

         25  the disaster that it was not generating sufficient
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          2  revenue to pay off the loan, the loan could be

          3  forgiven.  Just 10 months before the September 11th

          4  Terrorist attacks against our City, Congress placed

          5  a $5 million cap on this assistance.  A cap, which

          6  both FEMA and the Congressional Research Service

          7  admit has made the assistance useless for large

          8  cities such as New York.

          9                 To put in its starkest terms, if

         10  those terrorists had flown those two planes into the

         11  World Trade Center on September 11th, 2000, one year

         12  earlier, New York City would be entitled to apply

         13  for billions of dollars of assistance from this

         14  program and may not be facing a fiscal crisis today.

         15                 The federal legislation, sponsored by

         16  Congresswoman Maloney and many other members of our

         17  Congressional Delegation, as well as two Senators,

         18  would undo this harsh injustice.  By removing the $5

         19  million cap on these loans, and providing that

         20  Community Disaster Loan made in response to

         21  terrorists attacks be forgiving. This is no less

         22  than our City deserves.

         23                 I will now turn over the mic to the

         24  Chair of the Council Finance Committee, my

         25  colleague, David Weprin.

                                                            5

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION AND FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

          3  Chairwoman Baez.  I am David Weprin, I Chair the

          4  Council's Finance Committee, the federal legislation

          5  that Resolution 542 supports, The Community Loan

          6  Disaster Equity Act of 2000.  It is critical to our

          7  City's recovery from the September 11th Terrorist

          8  Attack.

          9                 We are grateful to Washington for its

         10  response to the attacks.  The aid provided to

         11  families of the victims, and those whose lives were

         12  disrupted, the FEMA money for cleanup at Ground

         13  Zero, as well as the money for rebuilding

         14  infrastructure and businesses in Lower Manhattan.

         15  However, there has been one major casualty of the

         16  September 11th attack that has been largely ignored

         17  by the Federal government.  Just as surely as the

         18  terrorists toppled the Twin Towers, they took $3

         19  billion out of the City's Treasury.

         20                 We will hear more from the Office of

         21  Management and Budget on this today.  But let me

         22  give you just a few facts.  Since September 11th,

         23  the City has lost over $300 million in property

         24  taxes and commercial rent tax because of the

         25  destruction of property, as well as the diminution
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          2  of property values in the months following the

          3  attacks.

          4                 In the quarter immediately following

          5  September 11th, the City lost 73,000 jobs with an

          6  estimated 30,000 jobs permanently lost due to

          7  business relocating from the City.  The total

          8  decline in Personal Income Tax Revenues, through the

          9  end of the fiscal year, will likely exceed $800

         10  million.

         11                 Since September 11th through the end

         12  of the fiscal year, the City will likely lose

         13  approximately $1.4 billion in revenue from business

         14  taxes and sales taxes traceable to the declines in

         15  tourism, commerce, and other business activity in

         16  the aftermath of the attacks.

         17                 Since September 11th, the City has

         18  incurred almost $700 million in cost, such as

         19  emergency service salary and pension costs, and

         20  additional Medicaid Emergency cost attributable

         21  directly to the attacks that are not being

         22  reimbursed by the federal government.  If we are

         23  required without any direct, federal assistance to

         24  close the huge gaps that the City now faces, without

         25  aid for that part of the gap attributable to the
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          2  terrorist attacks, the service cuts and revenue

          3  increases that will be necessary could prolong the

          4  cities recovery for many years.

          5                 The legislation we are supporting

          6  today is not only critical to the City's economic

          7  recovery, but it is a matter of basic fairness.  As

          8  Chairwoman Baez has stated just two years ago,

          9  localities facing revenue losses as a result of a

         10  major disaster could apply to the federal government

         11  for loans of up to 25 percent of their budgets to

         12  make up for lost revenues.

         13                 The US Virgin Islands received a loan

         14  amounting to 25 percent of its annual budget in the

         15  wake of Hurricane Maryland, and the City of

         16  Homestead, Florida, receive a loan totaling 20

         17  percent of its budget in the wake of Hurricane

         18  Andrew.  Homestead, Florida's loan has since been

         19  forgiven, and the Virgin Island is awaiting word

         20  from the federal government on the cancellation of

         21  its loan.

         22                 The cap of $5 million put on these

         23  loans in October of 2000, makes them virtually

         24  useless for any large City struck by a major

         25  disaster.  By supporting Senate Bill 3055, and House
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          2  Bill 5523, we are seeking the opportunity for the

          3  same type of relief amounting to less than 10

          4  percent of our City's budget.

          5                 Given the revenues we send to

          6  Washington each year, and the unspeakable damage we

          7  suffered on September 11th, on the front lines of

          8  this attack on America, Congress, and the President

          9  should not deny us this assistance.

         10  I am now going to turn over the mic to the Chair of

         11  the Public Safety Committee, Council Member Vallone,

         12  whose Committee has been looking into some of the

         13  unreimbursed (sic) FEMA expenses, and give him an

         14  opportunity to say a few words.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

         16  Chairs Baez and Weprin, for this opportunity to be

         17  here today and speak.  As Chair of the Public Safety

         18  Committee, I have been actively engaged at the

         19  beginning of this year and the City's ongoing

         20  efforts to secure all the federal money to which we

         21  are owed as a result of the events of September

         22  11th.

         23                 The first resolution passed out of my

         24  Committee, and which was unanimously adopted by this

         25  Council, called on the federal government to take
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          2  all actions necessary to reimburse the NYPD for all

          3  expenses related to the attack on the World Trade

          4  Center.  This resolution was sponsored by myself

          5  after the Police Commissioner testified that $98.3

          6  million of NYPD overtime directly related to the

          7  World Trade Center Attack has not been reimbursed,

          8  and as of today, that figure still stands at $51.3

          9  million.  That is in addition to $158.8 million in

         10  full- time normal gross Police Department pay, which

         11  has not yet been reimbursed.  These figures are only

         12  part of the total of $650 million in unreimbursed

         13  (sic) disaster- related expenses referenced in the

         14  Community Disaster Loan Equity Act of 2002.

         15                 I fully support this program,

         16  however, it is absurd, as my esteemed Chairs have

         17  mentioned that a $5 million cap was placed on these

         18  loans by the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000.

         19                 As the Police Department's

         20  expenditures reveal alone, a $5 million cap is an

         21  insult and reflects a willful act of understanding

         22  of the time and resources needed by a major city to

         23  deal with a terrorist attack.

         24                 Although, this is an important piece

         25  of legislation, more needs to be done regarding
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          2  updating FEMA's Guidelines for disaster relief.  At

          3  numerous hearings the Public Safety Committee has

          4  held regarding FEMA, we have heard time and time

          5  again, that these Guidelines do not adequately deal

          6  with a terrorist attack. They were set up the deal

          7  with hurricanes and disasters of that type, not

          8  terrorist attacks.

          9                 Additionally, this City should not

         10  have to wait another day for the money to which it

         11  is entitled to by FEMA.  As I advocated in

         12  Resolution 551, introduced in the meeting last week,

         13  the $3.5 billion Congress has appropriated for new

         14  equipment and training to enhanced state and local

         15  preparedness against terrorist attacks should be

         16  distributed directly to New York City and other

         17  localities based upon risk assessment and target

         18  potential, to ensure maximum receipt of federal

         19  funds.  There is no formula, right now, for giving

         20  that money out, and we do not want New York City to

         21  be shortchanged any of that money.

         22                 It is obvious, we are owed the entire

         23  $650 million incurred as a result of the September

         24  11th attack.  It is also painfully obvious that this

         25  City faces dire economics straits in any loan
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          2  program created by the federal government should not

          3  place any caps on Community Disaster Loans.

          4                 As I have said before, the federal

          5  government failed us on September 11th, the FAA

          6  failed us, the CIA failed us, the INS failed us, we

          7  will not let them now fail to make us whole, as the

          8  result of this attack or any future attacks, and

          9  that is why I am so glad the City council is having

         10  this hearing today.  I have worked, and will

         11  continue to work hard, to make sure we are

         12  reimbursed for all of the cost of September 11th.

         13                 I thank you for this opportunity to

         14  speak here today, and I look forward to working with

         15  your Committees on this issue.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Chair

         17  Vallone. Before we hear from our first witness, who

         18  has been waiting patiently, and that is

         19  Congresswoman Carolyn Maloney, the prime sponsor of

         20  the House Bill that we are referring to, I just want

         21  to introduce my colleagues.

         22                 In the back row on the right is Eric

         23  Martin Dilan from Brooklyn.  Next to him is Council

         24  Member Helen Sears from Queens, next to her is our

         25  Majority Leader from the Bronx, Council Member Joel
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          2  Rivera, next to Joel is our Counsel to the Finance

          3  Committee, Jim Caras.  Next to Jim is Chairperson

          4  Baez, who we just heard from.  On my left is

          5  Chairperson Vallone, who we heard from, and Council

          6  Member Joe Addabbo from Queens.  In the front row,

          7  we have Council Member Madeline Provenzano from the

          8  Bronx, and Council Member Robert Jackson from

          9  Manhattan.

         10                 Congresswoman Maloney, and may I say,

         11  it is always a pleasure to have you back in this

         12  Chamber where you served with great distinction in

         13  the City Council before running, before becoming a

         14  member of the House of Representatives.

         15                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Thank you,

         16  Chairman Weprin and Chairwoman Maria Baez, and

         17  Chairman Vallone, and thank you for that warm

         18  introduction.  I always love coming back to this

         19  Chamber, it brings back many important memories of

         20  achievements, of hard challenges that we faced when

         21  we were members of the City Council. And I believe

         22  that the whole country watches this Council and how

         23  you attack and approach City issues.  It really is

         24  the guiding light for City legislation in the

         25  country.
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          2                 I just have to mention Eric Martin

          3  Dilan, I serve with your father on the Contracts

          4  Committee, send him my regards, as well as Peter

          5  Vallone, Jr., I served with your father, send him my

          6  regards, and David, I even worked with your father,

          7  so it is great to come back and to see all of you on

          8  this very important issue, and I appreciate the

          9  opportunity to testify.

         10                 We all know too well the effects and

         11  some of the costs that September 11th has had on our

         12  communities, and the work that has been and is being

         13  done to rebuild and make our City whole again is

         14  incredible.  Some of these costs cannot be itemized,

         15  such as the loss of loved ones, friends and fellow

         16  workers.  Yet, some can be said in dollars, the cost

         17  of repairs and the cost to rebuild the subways, or

         18  Police and Fire overtime.

         19                 We, the City and State, have gotten a

         20  great deal of help in this regard, individuals from

         21  around the country and the world dug into their

         22  pockets and donated billions to help victims and

         23  their families.  Insurance companies did not use

         24  their war exclusions on their policies and paid some

         25  estimates over billions in damages to companies and

                                                            14

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION AND FINANCE

          2  individuals in the New York State region.  And the

          3  federal government has stepped forward and committed

          4  $15 billion in appropriated funds, and another $5

          5  billion in tax credits to cleanup the World Trade

          6  Center site, pay the normal cost under the Stafford

          7  Act and other expenses.

          8                 While many of us have had issues with

          9  the way that some of these programs have operated,

         10  like the aid to our City's schools and the

         11  individual grant programs, no one can doubt the

         12  sincerity of the effort on the part of Congress.

         13  But what has come from the federal government and

         14  from private insurance, and what the dollar and

         15  cents costs of 9/11 have been are too different

         16  columns that do not equal each other.

         17                 As the City Comptroller has well

         18  demonstrated, there is a huge difference between

         19  what has and will be coming in versus the cost of

         20  9/11.  One of the largest items that has not yet

         21  been dealt with, and still needs to be addressed is

         22  the loss of tax revenues for the City and the State

         23  as a direct result of 9/11 happening here, a few

         24  blocks from this building.

         25                 In New York we suffered a severe loss
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          2  in tax revenues due to lost jobs, destroyed

          3  buildings, a reduction in visitors to our City, and

          4  from the plain fact a good part of the heart of our

          5  City was simply shut down, parts of it are still

          6  shut down, because of the disaster.

          7                 On June 16th, 2002, a report by the

          8  General Accounting Office that I and my colleagues

          9  in the New York Delegation asked for, found the

         10  estimates by the New York City and State Budget

         11  Offices, to be an approximately $1.6 billion tax

         12  revenue loss for the City, and a $1.6 billion loss

         13  for New York State as a result of this attack

         14  happening here was their projected loss.

         15                 The report also details the estimates

         16  for New York City and State of losses up to $5.6

         17  billion in Fiscal Year 2003, bringing the total tax

         18  revenue loss to $8.8 billion over the next two

         19  years.  I want to point out that this loss has

         20  nothing to do with the downturn in our economy that

         21  we are feeling in this City, across our State, and I

         22  would say across the Nation.  These are direct

         23  losses due to 9/11.

         24                 We have all seen the reports that

         25  indicate that the City estimates its budget gap to
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          2  be between five and six billion next year, and

          3  without official estimates of the gap, the State

          4  has, at least, a $5 billion, and as much as a $10

          5  billion budget gap.  These are the largest budget

          6  deficits we have ever faced, larger, I think, in

          7  proportion to the fiscal crisis of the seventies,

          8  which David Weprin and I worked on in the early

          9  seventies as members of the Assembly staff.

         10                 It is important to note with the

         11  slowing National economy, almost all areas are

         12  suffering from budget shortfalls, and certainly part

         13  of our budget gap is part of this National trend.

         14  However, billions of the shortfall is a direct

         15  result of the attacks of September 11th, and

         16  directly a result of the fact that these attacks

         17  happened right down the street from our Council

         18  hearing today at the World Trade Center.  But for

         19  Osama Bin Laden, New York would have the revenue,

         20  and it is unfair that New Yorkers are made to suffer

         21  these gaps.  We will be facing less police in the

         22  street, more kids in the classroom, less hours for

         23  libraries and bigger potholes, that is why we need

         24  assistance for the lost tax revenues from the

         25  federal government.
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          2                 There is precedent for this.  This is

          3  not some fanciful idea.  In the past, when areas

          4  were suffering from substantial losses of tax

          5  revenues, as a direct result of a major disaster,

          6  the federal government provided this assistance.  A

          7  program known as the Community Disaster Loan Program

          8  was used repeatedly, and while the scale is

          9  admittedly different, this assistance was provided

         10  to communities' experience, like ours, a substantial

         11  loss in tax revenue.

         12                 Since 1976, the federal government

         13  has made 60 such loans for cities and towns in

         14  Florida, Pennsylvania, Michigan, West Virginia,

         15  Massachusetts, Illinois, among others.  And of these

         16  loans, 42 percent of total disbursement has not

         17  required repayment. This is why at the request of

         18  the Bloomberg Administration, I along with Serrano,

         19  Rangel, Israel, Velazquez, among others, and with

         20  Senators Clinton and Schumer in the Senate introduce

         21  H.R. 5523, and Senate 3055, The Community Disaster

         22  Loan Equity Act of 2002.

         23                 This legislation builds upon

         24  precedent, this bill removes an arbitrary cap on

         25  recovering loss tax revenues, imposed only two years
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          2  ago, and includes states as well as being eligible.

          3  It also does not require a repayment of this

          4  assistance in the event of a terrorist attack.  We

          5  did this recognizing precedent of a program as

          6  stated, a program that frequently canceled all or

          7  part of the loan in previous national disasters.

          8  The hole that the attacks of 9/11 have created in

          9  our City and State budget is too large to fill,

         10  without making New Yorkers suffer more.

         11  I am extremely happy to report that since the

         12  introduction of this bill, and with the leadership

         13  of Chairman James Walsh of Central New York, and the

         14  House appropriations of VA HUD Subcommittee, the

         15  City will receive in a bill that was passed by the

         16  House, it is still before the Senate, $650 million

         17  in unreimbursed (sic) expenses.  Expenses such as

         18  those that Council Member Vallone spoke about, and

         19  the State $330 million for a total of $980 million

         20  for aid in New York State and City, using this bill

         21  as a vehicle.

         22                 This is a great first step, and the

         23  City and State should certainly be given this

         24  assistance.  However, we should not confuse loss tax

         25  revenue and unreimbursed (sic) expenses.  It is my
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          2  hope that the Mayor and the Governor will work with

          3  the Congressional Delegation in requesting the lost

          4  tax revenues that we suffered as a result of 9/11.

          5                 The promised $20 billion in aid was

          6  supposed to be a floor, not a ceiling, and I think

          7  we need to start making the case that the City needs

          8  more help to recover.  In April, I and my colleagues

          9  received from the New York Federal Reserve a report

         10  on the effect of 9/11 to the City, and one of the

         11  most startling things they said at the time, which

         12  still holds true, is that because of 9/11, the City

         13  will lag behind the rest of the country, even if

         14  there is an economic recovery.

         15                 Unless we get this help, that

         16  prediction will come true.  This is help that is

         17  needed to pay for the essential services or our

         18  City, of our communities.  And I think that the

         19  American would agree that New York services for

         20  schools, libraries, police, even water and highways

         21  should not suffer because of Osama Bin Laden.

         22                 I support the City Council's efforts,

         23  I support and congratulate you on the work that you

         24  have been doing, documenting the loss of revenue to

         25  our City.  And I support the resolution before you,
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          2  and the efforts by the Council to show support from

          3  the City,  and to gain more momentum to reimburse

          4  our City, not only for expenses that were not

          5  reimbursed, but for lost tax revenue.

          6                 Again, it is always a great honor to

          7  come and visit with you in this Chamber.  It brings

          8  back many, many fond memories, and it always

          9  inspires me for the challenges ahead of you.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         12  Congresswoman, and we appreciate your leadership

         13  along with your colleagues in trying other help out

         14  New York City.

         15                 As you referred, we have a five to

         16  six billion dollar gap starting next July 1st, but

         17  we also have a $1 billion gap for the current fiscal

         18  year that we are in.  So we may be potentially

         19  talking about a $7 billion gap over the period of

         20  about, you know, a year and a half, 19 months.  So

         21  we certainly would like the help that we really

         22  deserve based on the fact that the attack at the

         23  World Trade Center was not an attack on New York

         24  City, but an attack on our Country.  And I am sure

         25  your colleagues recognize that, and it is very
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          2  important that we tell the story appropriately.  And

          3  anything we can do the aid you in your efforts to

          4  persuade your colleagues, please, feel free to call

          5  upon us.

          6                 One of the things that I was thinking

          7  of, is possibly starting out by reaching out to some

          8  of your colleagues in Florida, the Carolinas, Hawaii

          9  and the West Coast, who might some day in the future

         10  need similar type of assistance, due to the type

         11  natural disasters that those areas, in particular,

         12  of the country are prone to.

         13                 Have you made any efforts to reach

         14  out to some of those colleagues that might be in

         15  those potential disaster areas, or if not, maybe is

         16  there a way we can help you?

         17                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Well we have

         18  reached out through dear colleagues and our

         19  conversations on the floor.  But I would like to

         20  appeal to this Council to reach out to your

         21  counterparts, city councils across the country that

         22  could pass similar resolutions and help build

         23  momentum for the passage of this important bill.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  I am

         25  now going to turn it over to Chairwoman Maria Baez
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          2  for a few questions.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.

          4  Congresswoman, do you know why Congress amended this

          5  provision to add a $5 million cap after 25 years?

          6                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  That was

          7  added because of the Disaster Mitigation Relief Act

          8  for FEMA that passed in 2000. When we researched it,

          9  there were no hearings or mention of the $5 million

         10  cap.  It passed with an effort to put some type of

         11  control on the escalating expenses to the federal

         12  government for disasters that, as your colleagues

         13  pointed out, hundreds of millions of dollars were

         14  allocated for hurricanes and earthquakes.  But FEMA

         15  is there for disasters.  And what is unique about

         16  New York situation is that we still have not spent

         17  the 21.4 billion dollars promised by Congress and

         18  the President.

         19                 One of the important statements in

         20  one of the reports that we got from the New York

         21  City Federal Reserve, is that they said that aid

         22  early is much, much better than aid later.  At one

         23  point, FEMA was saying, of course, we will honor

         24  this, but it may be 20 years from now.  We do not

         25  need it 20 years from now.  As you point out,
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          2  Chairwoman, we need it this year for the billion

          3  dollar gap.  We need it next year for the five to

          4  six billion dollar gap.

          5                 But for Osama Bin Laden, we would not

          6  have this gap. And I feel that it is very much a

          7  federal responsibility to come to the aid of the

          8  City of New York and New York State.

          9                 I might add that Congressman Moran

         10  from Virginia is also a cosponsor, and Congresswoman

         11  Norton is also a cosponsor.             But one of

         12  the things that I also want to do, work closer with

         13  the Council, because I feel that cities are closer

         14  to the people, Council Members are closer to the

         15  people.  And you are in a unique position to really

         16  garner more public support than being off in

         17  Washington where there are just too many monuments

         18  and too many other issues there.  And I think an

         19  appeal to other City Councils that they pass this

         20  resolution is a tool that could help bring momentum,

         21  not only for this issue, but a lot of other issues

         22  that are important to our City.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         24  Council Member Vallone had a question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:   Thank you,
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          2  Congresswoman, for all the help you have been on

          3  this issue.

          4                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  This hugely

          6  important issue.  As you said, there are five

          7  hurricanes since 1989, in which the federal

          8  government disbursed over $213 million in loans

          9  under this program.  We lose the World Trade Center,

         10  the Economic Capital of the World and we are

         11  eligible for $5 million.  It is an insult, and it

         12  needs to be changed, and we are glad you are working

         13  on that.

         14                 I think it is part of a larger

         15  problem with FEMA though.  I have had many hearings

         16  on this, and we have actually been told by our own B

         17  representatives that our straight time from the

         18  Police Department, which is over $155 million right

         19  now in straight time, this is not reimbursable by

         20  FEMA, because it does not fit under their

         21  guidelines, another outrage.  Money that we spent on

         22  our Police Officers to be at the World Trade Center

         23  site, to go to the Fresh Kills Landfill, to be at

         24  the morgue, things that they would not have been

         25  doing, but for Osama Bin Laden, we cannot get
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          2  reimbursed for because they do not fit under the

          3  guidelines.

          4                 Now I have spoken to Senator

          5  Liebermann who has jurisdiction over FEMA in the

          6  Senate.  I just wanted some information from you

          7  about what is going on, on your end of the hall,

          8  regarding oversight of FEMA?

          9                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Council

         10  member, you raised a tremendously important point.

         11  We see a lot of press conferences, where they

         12  announce, we have $21.4 billion, but you try to get

         13  it for a needed reason, and it is like pulling teeth

         14  out of a mountain.  I mean, it is incredible, to

         15  cite one is the $5.9 million that New York

         16  University lost because their leased buildings to

         17  public schools were "not reimbursable, they were

         18  private."  The Delegation worked a long time to get

         19  that changed. About three weeks ago, we got the $5.9

         20  million, but we should not have to fight so hard.

         21                 Just last Monday, as you well know,

         22  Chancellor Joel Klein announced, along with myself

         23  and others, that FEMA had changed their minds, that

         24  now the City was eligible for the $80 million for

         25  lost instructional time.  Los Angeles got it, San
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          2  Francisco got it, but when we put in the bills for

          3  lost instructional time that our children and

          4  teachers lost because of Osama Bin Laden, it was

          5  turned down for an entire year and two months.  And

          6  I think that you have done a tremendous job in

          7  highlighting the need to reimburse the overtime for

          8  the Police and the Fire.  But of Osama Bin Laden, we

          9  would not have these overtime costs.  Yet, as you

         10  know, you have had hearings on it, and I have

         11  submitted testimony, they are claiming that this is

         12  not reimbursable.

         13                 We have, as you know now, because of

         14  this bill passed legislation in HUD.  We have

         15  roughly a billion dollars that has passed the House

         16  to reimburse the items that you have documented and

         17  pointed out, and we are hopeful that it will pass

         18  the Senate.

         19                 But specifically to answer your

         20  question, I have put forward a bill, one is calling

         21  upon the IG, and this one has passed with the help

         22  of Jose Serrano from the beautiful Bronx.  This one

         23  has passed, and this one will require the IG from

         24  FEMA to document how it has worked and how it has

         25  not worked in New York.
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          2                 She I am speaking to the Council to

          3  get the information of how you have had problems,

          4  you mentioned the Police and the Fire, but how you

          5  have had problems with reimbursement. One example

          6  was the mortgage and rental abatement program, and

          7  at first they were only reimbursing people who lived

          8  near the World Trade Center later in Manhattan,

          9  while you and I represent Queens. We had

         10  constituents who worked at the World Trade Center,

         11  lost their jobs, yet, they were not reimbursed.

         12                 FEMA has changed their guidelines now

         13  to cover all five boroughs, and I am very grateful,

         14  but it has been a long fight to point out areas that

         15  need to be changed.  It has been a horrific year for

         16  everyone in New York, and I am hopeful that the

         17  Mayor's request and the Governor's request, as I

         18  said, have passed the House of Representatives.  But

         19  I believe they should be even bolder and support

         20  reimbursement for lost tax revenues, so that we

         21  could appealing for trying to make our budgets more

         22  whole because of the deep gaping hole.

         23                 I have got to tell you one thing,

         24  David Weprin. David and I met each other years ago,

         25  when we were staff assistants and we worked for the
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          2  New York State Legislature.  And during those years,

          3  it was the early seventies, it was when - -

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Remember the

          5  press is here.

          6                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Pardon me?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I said, remember

          8  the press is here.

          9                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  I am being

         10  very cautious. It was when really we went broke, and

         11  we had to move to a Financial Control Board, and we

         12  had to do all kinds of things to get our finances in

         13  the City straight.  It was a very troubling time.  I

         14  would venture to say that this time is just as

         15  challenging, even more troubling, the challenges

         16  that we confront with our budget. And yet, they are

         17  brought to us by Osama Bin Laden, and as you pointed

         18  out in your opening statements, both Maria Baez and

         19  Mr. Weprin, and Mr. Vallone, that this was an attack

         20  on our country, the financial capital of our

         21  country, and our country has a responsibility to be

         22  part of the effort to make us whole.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         24  Council Member Martin Golden from Brooklyn has

         25  joined us, and has been here, although, he has to go
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          2  to another hearing.  So, as the day goes on a number

          3  of our colleagues will be coming and going, because

          4  they have other legislative business.

          5                 Thank you.  Council Member Vallone.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:

          7  Congresswoman, I cannot thank you enough for the

          8  help that you have been on the Legislative side, but

          9  what I am asking and would like to know, and maybe

         10  you do not know, I do not know, but on the Executive

         11  side, these are Executive Guidelines, as far as I

         12  understand it that can be changed.  If this were

         13  happening on a City level, I would be having a

         14  hearing a week on the Legislative level and getting

         15  FEMA down there to explain, until they finally

         16  changed these guidelines.

         17                 I have been having hearings, FEMA

         18  will not come to my City hearings, of course, but

         19  you can subpoena them down there on a Federal level

         20  and get them to show up and explain, the

         21  unexplainable.  I was just wondering what is going

         22  on down there to get FEMA to do this, to get them to

         23  a hearing and explain how they are disrespecting New

         24  York City?

         25                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  FEMA actually
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          2  supports this bill, not officially, but I have

          3  talked to many FEMA officials that say they would

          4  support this bill about lifting the cap.  The

          5  legislation was passed by the United States

          6  Congress, so that particular $5 million cap was

          7  passed in 2000 by the United States Congress, but as

          8  I said earlier, there were no hearings, it was not

          9  spotlighted, and people were not aware of it.  And

         10  regrettably, it is now the law.  So in order to

         11  change it, we have to change the cap, or act

         12  legislatively.

         13  We have already acted legislatively in passing

         14  legislation to make whole the unreimbursed (sic)

         15  expenses that the Mayor put forward of $630 million,

         16  and I believe the Governor said $350 million.  We

         17  got it through the House of Representatives, but we

         18  need to get it through the Senate.  And I, we have

         19  had many, many hearings in Congress with FEMA, and

         20  in fact, we had one about two weeks ago, with Allen

         21  Gerson's Committee, right here in this Chamber on

         22  what is working and what is not working with FEMA.

         23                 I think that is legislation that I

         24  offered and we did that jointly.  I think we should

         25  bring them back for yet another hearing.  I know you
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          2  had mentioned to me that you were not aware of it.

          3  Sometimes things move so quickly that everyone does

          4  not know about all the hearings.  But we should work

          5  to get FEMA back for another hearing before the

          6  Council with both, maybe a joint federal, city,

          7  state hearing.

          8                 But as I said, they are now required

          9  by law to issue a report on what was done right and

         10  what was done wrong, and how they changed their

         11  guidelines.  They have changed several of their

         12  guidelines, as I said, on the education on New York

         13  University, on the rental and mortgage insurance

         14  reimbursement, they have changed their guidelines to

         15  really be more favorable to all five boroughs and

         16  more favorable to people.

         17                 But it is a long, hard struggle.  I

         18  remember the days when the head of the OMB called

         19  us, money grubbers.  Do you remember that?  I mean

         20  here we are suffering, here we have people who have

         21  given their lives rushed into buildings, and in a

         22  precedent way to save the lives of others, and there

         23  was this attitude that we did not deserve it or

         24  whatever.  So it has been a tremendous struggle to

         25  keep the spotlight on the needs here in New York
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          2  City and State, and this City Council has passed

          3  legislation, held hearings, and really been a great

          4  role model, really, on keeping the focus.

          5                 And as I said, when you go through

          6  your budget hearings it is going to be so painful,

          7  we need to highlight what is still out there from

          8  FEMA, but has not gotten to the City.  Let's take

          9  what is still out there and plug it in for these

         10  budget gaps that are there because of 9/11.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you

         12  for that.  I was aware of that hearing, but it only

         13  had to do with a small portion of the entire picture

         14  about loans to some areas of Lower Manhattan. They

         15  did come down to that one, but again, we can hope,

         16  shed some light on this, but I would like the

         17  federal government, and I know you are being as

         18  vigilant as possible to maintain the pressure on

         19  FEMA.  If there is any assistance we can give in

         20  that regard, by resolution or anything along those

         21  lines, we would be happy to help.

         22                 Thank you for coming down today.

         23                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Thank you.

         24  We should work on a joint hearing on the other

         25  issues of FEMA, and get them back down here for a
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          2  hearing.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, Council

          4  Member Addabbo.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chair. Congresswoman Maloney, thank you for your

          7  time and testimony today? On September 26th, I had

          8  the opportunity to travel down to Washington with a

          9  number of my colleagues to speak to our federal

         10  representatives about current, future, federal aid.

         11  And there was a  representative from Upstate area

         12  who got up and said that, it is going to be tough to

         13  fight for this aid, because there is a growing

         14  sentiment amongst representatives across the

         15  country, that they have done the enough for New

         16  York.  That it is going to be harder to fight for

         17  this federal aid, because again of this growing

         18  sentiment, this negative sentiment towards New York.

         19                 And I wanted to know in your

         20  professional opinion, to you hear about any type of

         21  growing negative sentiment on federal aid to New

         22  York, and if there is, is there something on our

         23  level, the City Council level that we can do to

         24  assist to change this negative impact?

         25                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Well truly I
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          2  have never seen Congress as united and determined as

          3  we were after 9/11, and I thank the President and my

          4  colleagues in Congress for voting for $21.4 billion

          5  in aid for New York City.  And they moved quickly

          6  also voting monies to combat terrorism, and this

          7  fight has continued in a very determined way.  But

          8  the longer we get away from 9/11, the harder it is

          9  to get the money.  In fact, we are having difficulty

         10  even getting the 21.4 that was already allocated.

         11  There was a sentiment, oh, let's wait 20 years, or

         12  let's wait for awhile, but as the studies from both

         13  the Comptroller's Office and the federal reserve and

         14  the GAO point out, we need the money now for our own

         15  economic recovery, we need it now, not in the

         16  future. So, we have worked in a bipartisan way to

         17  get these monies.  But it is true that the farther

         18  we get away from 9/11, the harder it is to get the

         19  support that we needed, because our colleagues are

         20  going home, and they are facing droughts, they are

         21  facing floods, they are facing unemployment, they

         22  are facing really critical issues in their own

         23  states.  And then as you know the $3 trillion

         24  surplus has now become $157 billion deficit so that

         25  it is more difficult.
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          2  But one of the things that I think we need to do, if

          3  we passed this bill, we could then use what is left

          4  from the $21.4 billion, I know that a billion is

          5  left over in a FEMA camp, we are trying to get that

          6  for the unreimbursed (sic) expenses that Mr. Vallone

          7  talked about, but we could then direct that money

          8  into the treasury of New York City to help on the

          9  very difficult choices that will confront this

         10  Finance Committee and this State and Federal

         11  Legislation Committee.  So that is true that it is

         12  becoming more difficult, but on the other hand we

         13  have had an unprecedented successful, and as I

         14  mentioned the week we left Congress, literally, the

         15  week we left Congress, the New York delegation under

         16  the leadership of Jimmy Walsh from Syracuse was

         17  successful in getting through the HUD, VA HUD budget

         18  another billion dollars allocated to New York City

         19  for these reimbursed expenses.

         20  CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Council Member Dilan.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Congress

         22  member, thank you for your leadership on this issue.

         23    Council Member Addabbo, somewhat stolen my

         24  thunder, but maybe I will ask the same question in a

         25  different manner.  Like you said, bipartisan support
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          2  within the State of New York for your bill, I

          3  believe in Congress, but do you think that the

          4  upcoming mid- term elections and the balance of

          5  power in the House and Senate would, you know, maybe

          6  influence the passage of your bill at all, as much

          7  as you can say?  I mean Addabbo did a good job in

          8  stealing my thunder, but maybe I will present it

          9  that way.

         10                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Well, I hoped

         11  that more Democrats are elected to Congress.  I hope

         12  that we are able to keep a Democratic Senate, and a

         13  lot of the Housing needs and people needs, education

         14  funding, et cetera, I believe would be more

         15  generous, and also more generous in this respect,

         16  maybe nationally, but I will say within New York

         17  State, it has been a unified bipartisan effort,

         18  totally bipartisan effort.  Obviously, we would not

         19  have gotten the billion dollar appropriation through

         20  the House, which is now controlled by Republicans,

         21  but for the cooperation and support of the

         22  Delegation, the Republican members of our Delegation

         23  who went to their leadership, and got the

         24  unreimbursed (sic) aspect included in the budget.

         25  So that was done in a total bipartisan way.

                                                            37

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION AND FINANCE

          2                 But elections have consequences, and

          3  there is a difference, and elections have

          4  consequences as you well know.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, thank you

          6  Congresswoman. We have been joined by, every time I

          7  try to introduce her, she runs to another meeting

          8  and then comes back, but we have been joined by

          9  Council Member Christine Quinn from Manhattan.

         10                 No further questions, we appreciate

         11  coming down, and once again, Congresswoman we

         12  appreciate your taking the lead, along with the

         13  colleagues on this issue, and maybe we will have you

         14  back for an update, very informally, you know, if

         15  you could just relate to us an update as we go

         16  through the process.

         17                 CONGRESSWOMAN MALONEY:  Okay, thank

         18  you very much, Chairman, Chairwoman, members of the

         19  Council, it was an honor for me to be here, thank

         20  you for your support.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Next speaker

         22  will be Jeffrey Kay from the Office of Management

         23  and Budget.  Do you have a statement?

         24                 MR. KAY:  Sure.  Good morning.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Proceed.
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          2                 MR. KAY:  Thank you for the

          3  opportunity to testify on behalf of the Office of

          4  Management and Budget in support of Resolution 542,

          5  which calls upon Congress and the President to enact

          6  HR 5523 and S 3055, otherwise known as the Community

          7  Disaster Loan Equity Act of 2002.  First, I would

          8  like to thank Senator Clinton, Senator Schumer,

          9  Congresswoman Maloney, Congressman Rangel and other

         10  members of the New York Delegation for their

         11  leadership of this important issue.

         12                 The terrorist attacks of September

         13  11, 2001 resulted in the deaths of thousands of

         14  people, the displacement of people's homes and the

         15  disruption of many businesses throughout the City of

         16  New York.  While the City is well on its way toward

         17  recovery, these attacks also directly resulted in a

         18  loss of tax revenues of over $3 billion dollars over

         19  two fiscal years.  The Community Disaster Loan

         20  Equity Act of 2002 amends Section 417 of the Robert

         21  T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance

         22  Act, the federal statute, which governs FEMA's

         23  response to disasters, to address this huge loss of

         24  tax revenue to the City and the State of New York.

         25                 Current federal law already provides
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          2  a mechanism of assistance to replace lost tax

          3  revenue as a result of a disaster to local

          4  governments.  This program is known as the Community

          5  Disaster Loan program and has been authorized under

          6  the Stafford Act in some form or another since 1970.

          7    While this program has been amended several times

          8  over the last three decades, the most recent

          9  amendments made in 2000, severely limits the effect

         10  in this program for large local governments, such as

         11  the City of New York.

         12                 Under the current program, local

         13  governments are eligible to apply for Community

         14  Disaster Loan, which will not exceed the lessor of

         15  25 percent of the local government's annual

         16  operating budget or $5 million.  In addition, this

         17  loan may be canceled or forgiven if the revenues of

         18  the local government during three full fiscal years

         19  following the disaster are insufficient to meet the

         20  operating budget needs.  Therefore, under current

         21  law the City could only apply for a loan of $5

         22  million.

         23                 The Community Disaster Loan Act seeks

         24  to address this inequity by removing the $5 million

         25  cap, and providing for immediate loan forgiveness
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          2  for those instances where the eligible entity is

          3  receiving these funds as a result of the terrorist

          4  attack.  In addition, the bill also expands the

          5  ability for the program to State governments.  The

          6  current program is only available to municipalities.

          7    If this legislation were to be passed and new

          8  resources became available, the City would be

          9  eligible to apply for such a loan to replace lost

         10  tax revenue as a result of the disaster.

         11                 Shortly after the September 11th,

         12  attacks, the New City OMB prepared an analysis,

         13  which estimated that a tax revenue loss of $1.6

         14  billion on FY 20O2 was the direct result of the

         15  disaster.  OMB also estimated that a tax revenue

         16  loss of about $1.4 billion in 2003, could be

         17  attributed directly to the attacks on the World

         18  Trade Center.  The United States General Accounting

         19  Office report issued in July 2002 reviewed the

         20  City's analysis and confirmed that the City and

         21  State both lost substantial amount of tax revenue as

         22  a direct result of the disaster.  The City's

         23  analysis focused on a simulated economic analysis

         24  just prior to September 11th and the economic and

         25  tax revenue forecast as of the adopted budget.  By
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          2  preparing a simulated analysis for the economic

          3  conditions just prior to the attacks, the City was

          4  able to take into account the already declining

          5  economy.  Based on economic conditions in August

          6  2001, the property tax was forecast to reach $8,567

          7  million in FY 2002.  Because of the slowdown in the

          8  US and local economies, the non- property taxes were

          9  forecast to decline by 0.1 percent to $14,681

         10  million for 2002 but due to a pickup in the national

         11  economy during calendar year 2002, the projected

         12  growth in non- property taxes was to rise by 3.9

         13  percent in 2003.

         14                 In the immediate aftermath of 9/11,

         15  conditions in the US economy deteriorated sharply.

         16  Consumer confidence plummeted, initial claims for

         17  unemployment soared and manufacturing activity fell

         18  to new lows.  By early 2002, however, there were

         19  already signs that many indicators were steadily

         20  turning around. By April, most economists were

         21  predicting that the economy would emerge from a

         22  recession with a growth of 2.6 percent in the Gross

         23  Domestic Product in 2002.  The events of 9/11 had

         24  more severe effects locally, from September to

         25  December over 70,000 jobs had been lost, mostly in

                                                            42

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION AND FINANCE

          2  industries directly related to 9/11.  The Finance

          3  Insurance and Real Estate Industry lost

          4  approximately 24,000 jobs, retail was down 12,900,

          5  and services were down almost 28,000 jobs.  In 2001,

          6  real Gross City Product dropped from $443.1 billion

          7  in the August forecast to $428.6 billion.

          8                 The destruction and damage of

          9  property and the loss of economic activity from the

         10  9/11 attack had devastating effects on tax revenues.

         11    As of the adopted budget, non- property tax

         12  revenues were currently estimated a $13,219 million

         13  for FY 2002, a decline of 10 percent.  In total,

         14  after adjusting for a change in tax policy, the

         15  difference in tax revenue from the August forecast

         16  to the adopted budget is $1.6 billion for 2002 and

         17  $1.4 billion for 2003.

         18                 In addition to these long- term

         19  impacts on the City's tax revenue and local economy,

         20  NYC OMB also prepared an analysis, which highlighted

         21  the direct and immediate affect of the loss in tax

         22  revenues.  In September alone, the City lost

         23  approximately $9 billion in Gross City Product,

         24  which is estimated to cost the City $281 million on

         25  non- property taxes for the same time period.  The
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          2  effects of the attacks on the City's tourism

          3  industry resulted in a loss of $43 million in hotel

          4  taxes and $64 million loss in sales tax in FY 2002.

          5  In addition, because of the decline in hotel

          6  profitability, the decline in market values will

          7  ultimately reduce the property tax levy from hotels

          8  by about $55 million.  Finally, the direct tax loss

          9  from the destruction of the World Trade Center and

         10  damage to surrounding buildings was considerable..

         11  Property taxes and Pilots fell $70 million in FY

         12  2002, and as the adopted budget, is expected to fall

         13  to $136 million in 2003 when the assessments reflect

         14  the damage to Battery Park City, and neighboring

         15  structure.  Also impacted is the commercial rent

         16  tax, with losses of $14 million from the WTC tenants

         17  over FY 2002 and FY 2003.

         18                 In addition to the substantial loss

         19  of tax revenue to the City and the State, the City

         20  has also accumulated approximately $650 million of

         21  additional out- of- pocket expenses that FEMA is

         22  unable to reimbursement under the current

         23  guidelines. While the City and FEMA have cooperated

         24  and worked at great lengths to maximize

         25  reimbursements, the FEMA stature is not designed to
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          2  reimburse localities for expenses in response to a

          3  major terrorist attack.  For example, the City was

          4  required to provide enhanced security throughout the

          5  City, not necessarily just in the area of the World

          6  Trade Center.  This Police overtime costs the City

          7  over $40 million.  In addition, the City and the

          8  State provided Disaster Relief Medicaid for all

          9  applicants to make sure that the people of New York

         10  receive the necessary health care services that they

         11  required.  This Medicaid Program is estimated to

         12  cost the City approximately $150 million.  While the

         13  City will continue to work with FEMA to cover

         14  expenses, there are limitations in the statute.

         15  Without some relief, in federal guidelines, in

         16  federal stature, these expenses will go unreimbursed

         17  (sic).

         18                 This Community Disaster Loan Equity

         19  Act is one of the many ways to ensure that the City

         20  is provided with the necessary funds to be

         21  reimbursed for all of our expenses.  The City looks

         22  forward to continue working with FEMA, the White

         23  House, the New York Congressional Delegation, and

         24  all members of Congress in achieving this goal.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  testify on behalf of this resolution.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

          4  Kay.  Before we proceed with questions, I just want

          5  to introduce a class in the balcony, we have the

          6  fourth and fifth graders from the West End Day

          7  School in Manhattan, waving in the back in the

          8  balcony.  It is a pleasure to have you, and enjoy

          9  the proceedings of the house.  This is a hearing on

         10  how the federal government can help New York City in

         11  light of the attack on September 11th, and we hope

         12  that you find it interesting.

         13                 MR. KAY:  That and we think recess

         14  should be longer, okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Mr. Kay, we all

         16  agree that we need help from the federal government.

         17

         18                 I am going to ask this as a two- part

         19  question:

         20                 One is when the Mayor or OMB is going

         21  to make recommendations on closing our current

         22  fiscal gap of a billion dollars, and our potential

         23  gap of five to six billion dollars for next fiscal

         24  year, is there some consideration, or some line item

         25  as to aid from Washington or the federal government,
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          2  or a contingency, two part, or and what is the

          3  strategy on the part of the Mayor or the Office of

          4  Management and Budget to work with us, or

          5  independently to try to lobby Washington to see that

          6  we get assistance that we deserve?

          7                 Well certainly in our 2002 budget

          8  there is, or there was a request for $800 million

          9  between the State and the federal government, so I

         10  would suspect that certainly there will be a State

         11  and Federal agenda for the 2003 budget that you have

         12  seen, or actually, the 2003 had the $800 million.  I

         13  suspect for the 2004 budget will also have a State

         14  and Federal agenda, as to the details of that at

         15  this point have not necessarily been worked out.  I

         16  am sure we will see that in the future.  But I will

         17  suspect, I am sure there will be a State and Federal

         18  agenda once again.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Do you have a

         20  strategy for working together with the City Council

         21  to effectively, you know, go to Washington, or work

         22  with our federal representatives in trying to get

         23  help from other parts of the country?

         24                 MR. KAY:  Well certainly, we have

         25  been in the adopted 2003, we both agreed on the
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          2  numbers for $800 million.  I am sure we continue to

          3  work as our staffs have been working now, to

          4  continue working on getting the money from the

          5  federal government. In terms of specific plans,

          6  until we have specific projects, I mean, I think

          7  that will have to come out in the future.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, Chair Baez

          9  had a question.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Actually, it is a

         11  two- part question.  Has the City put in a request

         12  for reimbursement of all the $650 million of

         13  expenses?  And the second part is, if not, do you

         14  plan on putting in a request for reimbursement

         15  before this is all over, and if the request is

         16  denied pursuing and appeal?

         17                 MR. KAY:  We have had a number of

         18  discussions with FEMA on the $650 million for each

         19  particular item, not all of them have been formerly

         20  submitted.  The State has formerly submitted on our

         21  behalf for this Disaster Relief Medicaid.  We have

         22  been continuing to work with FEMA.  It's been, we

         23  have had a number of discussions with them.  It has

         24  not been formal application.  If we need to do that

         25  in the future, I certainly believe that we will
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          2  definitely do that.

          3                 FEMA has been very cooperative in

          4  finding alternative routes.  To the extent that we

          5  can do that, we would like to continue working with

          6  them.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, Council

          8  Member Vallone?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Mr. Kay, let

         10  me respectively suggest that it has been over a

         11  year, we need to do that.  We need to make formal

         12  requests.  It is not enough to just say that we have

         13  asked for reimbursement, it is not here yet, I do

         14  not know when we are getting, we are working with

         15  them.  We have let that slide for a year, now we

         16  need to take every action possible to get this money

         17  tomorrow.

         18                 The $650 million figure that we have

         19  been dealing with, I have been provided a breakdown,

         20  I went through it prior to today.  To my knowledge

         21  it does not include the new Office of Emergency, the

         22  new Office of Emergency Management Command Center

         23  that was destroyed in the World Trade Center.  Am I

         24  correct in that assumption?

         25                 MR. KAY:  That is correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  All right,

          3  that command center, obviously, as we know are

          4  located in the World Trade Center needs to be

          5  relocated.  They found a place now, I believe, in

          6  Brooklyn that they are looking at.

          7                 What will be the cost of a new OEM

          8  Command Center?

          9                 MR. KAY:  I have not been involved in

         10  the exact discussions with the OEM Command Center

         11  and FEMA, but certainly that is something that FEMA

         12  is willing to look into, and would come out of their

         13  larger pot that has been allocated to FEMA over $8

         14  billion.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Okay.

         16                 MR. KAY:  The actual number has not

         17  been worked out yet.  I think the details are still

         18  being worked out.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Well why

         20  isn't that number included in the $650 million?

         21                 MR. KAY:  I think we feel at this

         22  point, that as long as FEMA continues to have our

         23  conversations, that we will get reimbursed for

         24  certainly the loss that occurred in the World Trade

         25  Center, and any additional cost that is agreed to.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I am

          3  confused.

          4                 MR. KAY:  If in fact that the OEM

          5  Command Center is not included, that the City goes

          6  forward to build, and certainly, that would be added

          7  to unreimbursed (sic) expenses.  But at this point,

          8  we believe that it will be reimbursed pursuant to

          9  negotiations.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  So are you

         11  saying the other $650 million, you believe, will not

         12  be reimbursed?

         13                 MR. KAY:  I am sorry.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I am

         15  confused as to the distinction between the fact that

         16  you believe it is going to be reimbursed, or you did

         17  not put in - -

         18                 MR. KAY:  Under the normal FEMA

         19  statute.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I am sorry.

         21                 MR. KAY:  Under the normal FEMA

         22  statute.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  So that is

         24  the distinction, under the normal FEMA statute.

         25                 MR. KAY:  Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Could you

          3  just elaborate on that, please?

          4                 MR. KAY:  Well the normal FEMA

          5  statute of the OEM Command Center was that there was

          6  an actual, physical loss of a building, or of an

          7  area of space, of which FEMA's allowed and is

          8  required to reimburse, with additional on top of it.

          9    The FEMA statute allows for some improvement upon

         10  and existing structure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  So whatever

         12  it is, falls under the normal FEMA statute is not

         13  listed in the $650 million?

         14                 MR. KAY:  That is correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  What other

         16  expenses are still out there then, that are not

         17  listed in the $650 million? Because let me tell you

         18  the OEM Command Center is going to over $100 million

         19  easy, and it is not, something that we are speaking

         20  about right now, we do not have it, we have a huge

         21  budget deficit, we need it.

         22                 So what other expenses do you expect

         23  to be reimbursed and have not been reimbursed under

         24  the normal FEMA statute?

         25                 MR. KAY:  Sure.  We have got, in
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          2  terms of expenses, approximately $1.7 billion, not

          3  including the $650 million that we have talked

          4  about, that we feel will be reimbursed from FEMA,

          5  and is somewhere within that process.  Those are

          6  primarily all of our expenses.

          7                 In addition to that, you will have

          8  liability coverage for the insurance contractors,

          9  possibly some other pension costs that are continued

         10  to be worked on.  It just means that the actual work

         11  sheets have not been written, and we are hammering

         12  at the details.

         13                 But we pretty much expect $1.7

         14  billion to be reimbursed from FEMA, and that should

         15  cover most, if not all our expenses, except for that

         16  $650 million.  Within that 1.7 is an estimate for

         17  the OEM Command Center.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Okay, I

         19  understand that. So there is $1.7 billion that you

         20  expect to be reimbursed under the normal guidelines,

         21  and $650 million, which inexplicably does not fall

         22  under the guidelines.  We agree on that, obviously.

         23                 MR. KAY:  In some instances - -

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Let me say,

         25  I have been working with your Administration, they
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          2  have been very helpful, I do not want you to get the

          3  wrong idea here in getting this back.  But let me

          4  also say that there is $1.7 billion and another $650

          5  million, which we need yesterday, and any help we

          6  can be to get that done, we will do that.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 MR. KAY:  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Council Member

         10  Sears.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman.  In, my question is as a result of 9/11 in

         13  all the work that you have done with the World Trade

         14  Center and the immediate Downtown area, have you

         15  done any calculations as to the residual effect of

         16  how the other boroughs were effected economically,

         17  which would help very strongly in advocating for

         18  those dollars that are shortcoming?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well included in

         20  the analysis of $1.6 and $1.4 over two years, was

         21  the overall City.  It looked at our tax revenue

         22  forecast on Citywide basis, not necessarily Lower

         23  Manhattan.  There was a direct smaller analysis that

         24  focused on tourism Citywide, focused on property

         25  taxes in Downtown, but overall, our forecast has
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          2  been a Citywide forecast, and effected all the other

          3  boroughs, and I believe the economic indicators that

          4  were looked at, were not just in Lower Manhattan,

          5  but were also in the Outer Boroughs in the City of

          6  New York as a whole.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Did you do

          8  that by industry by- industry?

          9                 MR. KAY:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Is that report

         11  available?

         12                 MR. KAY:  We could certainly get back

         13  to you with that information.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Any of my

         16  colleagues have any further questions?  Thank you,

         17  Mr. Kay.

         18                 Mr. Castell and Mr. Joseph from the

         19  Comptroller's Office, could you please step up, and

         20  if you could just identify your names and titles for

         21  the record, please?

         22                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER CASTELL:  Yes,

         23  good morning. Eduardo Castell, Deputy Comptroller

         24  for External Relations.

         25                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER JOSEPH:  Good
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          2  morning.  Andrew Joseph, Deputy Comptroller for

          3  Budget.

          4                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER CASTELL:  Good

          5  morning, Chairman Weprin, Chairwoman Baez, and

          6  member of the Committees.  As Deputy Comptroller for

          7  External Relations, I oversee City, State and

          8  Federal Government Affairs for New York City

          9  Comptroller, William C. Thompson, Jr.  I am joined

         10  by Andrew Joseph, who is our Deputy Comptroller for

         11  Budget who will assist with questions.

         12                 We are pleased to appear before you

         13  this morning, in support of Reso. 542, and in

         14  support of the Community Disaster Loan Equity Act of

         15  2002.  Federal legislation that would provide

         16  significant, timely, and well deserved financial

         17  assistance to New York City.  I applaud New York

         18  City's Congressional Delegation, in particular,

         19  Congresswoman Maloney for introducing this bill, and

         20  for the delegations determined advocacy on behalf of

         21  our City.

         22                 Now more than ever, we need

         23  Washington to deliver on its promise of assistance

         24  in the aftermath of 9/11.  And this legislation

         25  provides an opportunity to accomplish that.  By way
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          2  of background, let me refer to a report issued last

          3  month by the Comptroller, entitled, One Year Later:

          4  The Fiscal Impact of 9/11 on New York City.  The

          5  report provides a comprehensive examination of the

          6  financial toll exacted on the City's economy,

          7  budget, and cash flow, as a result of the attacks on

          8  the World Trade Center. While this devastating event

          9  can never be reduced to numbers, our report plainly

         10  demonstrates that New York City will continue to

         11  suffer its economic ramifications for years to come.

         12                 The report estimates that the

         13  economic costs from the attacks will reach, at

         14  least, $83 billion, and may escalate to as high as

         15  $95 billion dollars.  The true cost will depend in

         16  part on the financial number of jobs lost to

         17  business relocation, a figure that cannot be

         18  pinpointed at this point.  To provide some

         19  perspective, the attacks destroyed 13 million square

         20  feet of Class A office space in Lower Manhattan.  To

         21  understand the magnitude of that figure, consider

         22  the fact that this equals the entire Class A office

         23  space of the Central Business Districts of Atlanta

         24  or Miami. It will cost $21.8 billion to replace the

         25  lost buildings, infrastructure and tenant assets
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          2  alone.

          3                 In addition, the report estimates the

          4  loss of over $50 billion in economic activity for

          5  the City as measured by the loss of goods and

          6  services produced and sold, which is calculated as

          7  gross City product or GCP.  Beyond this immediate

          8  economic impact, our GCP was particularly shaken by

          9  the attacks impact on our job base.  Our office

         10  projected the total number of lost or unrealized

         11  jobs to exceed 146,000.  These figures demonstrate

         12  the seriousness of the fiscal stress facing our City

         13  as a direct result of the events of September 11th.

         14  Events that can only be described as an act of war

         15  on American soil.

         16                 As a national disaster that was

         17  concentrated mainly and most devastatingly in New

         18  York City, we should receive federal assistance

         19  appropriate to the magnitude of the destruction, and

         20  therefore, above and beyond what the federal

         21  government provides a result of a natural disaster.

         22  The current disaster assistance law is inadequate in

         23  addressing the circumstance of this magnitude.

         24                 In the aftermath of September 11th,

         25  the federal government pledged $21.4 billion in aide

                                                            58

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION AND FINANCE

          2  to New York, as prior witnesses have noted, while

          3  these funds will be of great assistance in the years

          4  ahead as our infrastructure is rebuilt, they do not

          5  fully address our immediate needs.  As you know, the

          6  City continues to look for ways to cope with the

          7  fiscal impact of that attacks. The City has

          8  exhausted the $3 billion budget surplus, which

          9  existed on June 30th, 2001, it has also implements

         10  more than $3 billion in expenditure reductions, and

         11  other agency- based gap closing initiatives, and has

         12  borrowed $2 billion to help close the current year's

         13  deficit.  However, as the members of this Committee

         14  know all to well, we are still facing a $1 billion

         15  budget gap for the current fiscal year, and a

         16  deficit for the next fiscal year, approaching $6

         17  billion.  More than half of this deficit, according

         18  to our estimates, is directly attributable to the

         19  effects of the terrorists attacks.

         20                 It is therefore, appropriate, that a

         21  portion of the contemplated federal aid brutalize

         22  directly to assist New York City in replenishing

         23  lost revenues and balancing its budget.  Without

         24  this assistance, the City will be required to engage

         25  in budgetary practices that may discourage
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          2  investment in the City and impact its quality of

          3  life, in many ways, the objectives sought by the

          4  terrorists when they attacked this nation.

          5                 The proposed legislation would

          6  directly address these issues.  The legislation

          7  amends Section 417 of the Stafford Disaster Relief

          8  and Emergency Assistance Act, which authorizes the

          9  President to make loans to local governments that

         10  have suffered substantial loss of tax and other

         11  revenues as a result of a major disaster.  However,

         12  since October 2000, the loans have been capped at

         13  five million dollars.  Unfortunately, federal law

         14  that was created to assist a locality in the

         15  situation that New York is in, is of limited use to

         16  the City because of a recently imposed and

         17  unreasonably low ceiling.  The proposed legislation

         18  would resolve this dilemma by removing the monetary

         19  cap of five million dollars.

         20                 More importantly, though, the bill

         21  would allow local governments that have suffered tax

         22  or revenue losses as a result of a terrorist attack

         23  to forego paying interest or principal on the loan.

         24  These changes would provide New York with critical

         25  assistance that it is due.
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          2                 In closing, let me state that

          3  Comptroller Bill Thompson fully supports the

          4  Community Disaster Loan Equity Act of 2002, and has

          5  written to Congressional Leaders urging them to

          6  stand by New York City now, and to fulfill the

          7  Federal government's pledges of aid by enacting this

          8  proposal into law.  Doing so will demonstrate to the

          9  world that an act on any one of us is an attack on

         10  us all.

         11                 We thank you for the opportunity to

         12  testify, and we welcome your questions.  And let me

         13  just also commend the Chairman and Chairwoman of the

         14  Committees and the members of the Committee for

         15  these hearings and bringing this issue to the fore.

         16  You understand more than most that this is not just

         17  a federal issue, it is a federal, state and city

         18  issue that impacts the fiscal, you know, elements of

         19  the City in a great manner every single day.  So I

         20  really want to commend you for bringing this to the

         21  attention of the press and the City as a whole.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, and

         24  we want to thank Comptroller Thompson for his

         25  assistance.  If you heard our opening statements, we
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          2  basically reiterated what you reiterated in your

          3  testimony how important it is to get the aid that we

          4  really deserve from the Federal government.  And we

          5  look forward to working with your office and

          6  Comptroller Thompson in a joint effort with the

          7  Office of Management and Budget, and the Mayor, and

          8  the City Council's Speaker, Gifford Miller, and our

          9  Committees to all work together to get the

         10  assistance in Washington, so we do appreciate that.

         11                 Any of my colleagues have questions?

         12  Chair Baez.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  I have one

         14  question.  How much did we borrow in Fiscal 2002

         15  that went to pay for unreimbursed (sic) World Trade

         16  Center related expenses?

         17                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER JOSEPH:  In 2002,

         18  we borrowed about a half of a billion dollars

         19  against the TFA Authorization, which was used to

         20  cover the shortfall on the FEMA funding, on the

         21  disaster funding.  We borrowed an additional $1.5

         22  billion so far this year to make up our revenue

         23  losses.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Any further
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          2  questions?  Thank you very much.

          3                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER CASTELL:  Thank

          4  you, again, and we do pledge our support, the

          5  Comptroller's support in working with you in

          6  collaboration to help bring these dollars to the

          7  City.

          8                 Thanks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.  Is

         10  David Dyssegaard Kallick from the Fiscal Policy

         11  Institute here?  Step forward, please.  Do you have

         12  a written statement?

         13                 MR. KALLICK:  I do.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, the light

         15  has to be off, in order for the mic to be on.  This

         16  is a City Council thing.

         17                 MR. KALLICK:  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  You can proceed.

         19                 MR. KALLICK:  Thank you for inviting

         20  me to testify this morning.  David Dyssegaard

         21  Kallick, Senior Fellow at the Fiscal Policy

         22  Institute, which is a non- profit, nonpartisan

         23  organization with offices in Albany and here in the

         24  City.  We focus on New York State and New York City

         25  economic labor market and budget issues.
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          2                 FPI spent a great deal of time over

          3  the past year addressing the impacts of the

          4  terrorists attacks on the World Trade Center.  The

          5  FPI analysis of job loss and economic effects due to

          6  September 11th receives press coverage around the

          7  world.  Today, FPI remains one of the key

          8  institutions and sources of information on impacts

          9  from September 11th for media, government and groups

         10  around the City and State.  FPI staff have been in

         11  frequent consultation with those states

         12  Congressional Delegations on these issue, and FPI

         13  was among the first to call attention to the need

         14  for the federal government to reimburse the State

         15  and City for tax losses due to the attack on the

         16  World Trade Center.  And FPI staff has also met with

         17  general accounting office to promote better

         18  understanding of fiscal and economic impacts of the

         19  attacks in the City.

         20                 In my roll as Senior Fellow, I have

         21  also been serving as the coordinator of the Labor

         22  Community Advocacy Network, known as LCAN.  Convened

         23  by the FPI and the New York City Central Labor

         24  Council, LCAN is a network of over 60 labor unions,

         25  research institutes, community organizations, and

                                                            64

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION AND FINANCE

          2  service providers that came together to understand

          3  the ways, the rebuilding effort which shapes New

          4  York's future.  After hundreds of hours of work by

          5  dozens of people, LCAN issued a comprehensive policy

          6  statement, this is it, on April 24th that received a

          7  formal endorsement of unions and organizations

          8  around the City.  And in the statement, we endorsed

          9  a proposed amendment to the Stafford Act similar to

         10  the one that you are supporting today.

         11                 After having spent a great deal of

         12  time on this year, which has been a very difficult

         13  year for all of us, on September 11th related

         14  issues, I would like to express my support for the

         15  proposal introduced by Congressional Representative

         16  Maloney and to commend the City Council for

         17  recognizing the importance of this issue.  Many

         18  people have said it before, on September 11th, New

         19  York took a hit for the country.  We should not be

         20  put in the position of having to run our economies

         21  into the ground to recover, nor should any other

         22  state or local government that might fall victim to

         23  an international attack do so either.

         24                 The federal government has the

         25  responsibility of guarding cities, states and
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          2  individuals from foreign attack.  It has the

          3  corresponding responsibility to make up for losses

          4  that occur because of those attacks.  The Stafford

          5  Act includes a provision for making loans to local

          6  government to provide for tax loss revenues, and

          7  loss tax revenues, loans that, in practice, have

          8  often later been forgiven.

          9                 Specifically, the Stafford Act

         10  authorizes local governments and a declared major

         11  disaster area to apply for Federal Emergency Agency

         12  for a Community Disaster Loan of up to 25 percent of

         13  their operating budgets for the fiscal year in which

         14  the disaster occurred.  Recently, as you know,

         15  Congress has added a limit setting the maximum

         16  amount of the loans of $5 million.  While the $5

         17  million limit might not be a major problem in less

         18  densely popular areas, with large numbers of

         19  relatively small and overlapping government, local

         20  governments.  The low cap renders the assistance

         21  program virtually irrelevant when applied to a

         22  geographically large and densely popular area, such

         23  as New York City.

         24                 Let me just take one moment to

         25  explain, and in the written testimony there is
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          2  greater detail, but taking New York State as an

          3  example, within New York City, there is one local

          4  government serving 8 million people, with an annual

          5  budget of over $40 billion.  In the rest of the

          6  State with a population of about 11 million people,

          7  the local service responsibilities that are assigned

          8  to one government New York City are divided among

          9  3,515 separate local taxing jurisdictions.

         10                 In Seneca County, for example, which

         11  at 325 square miles is about the same size as New

         12  York City, local services are divided up into 24

         13  separate local taxing jurisdictions, whose total

         14  operating budgets in 2000 were about 105 million.

         15  Of these 24 local governments, just in Seneca, the

         16  local county government had the largest budget at a

         17  little over $34 million.

         18                 Clearly, the $5 million limit that

         19  might be workable in some places undercuts the

         20  entire purpose of the Community Disaster Program in

         21  large urban areas such as New York City.  While the

         22  attack on New York is what brings the shortcomings

         23  of the Stafford Act into the spotlight, this is not

         24  a proposal to help just New York.  It is a proposal

         25  to revise our thinking about federal disaster relief

                                                            67

          1  STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION AND FINANCE

          2  for an error when a handful of terrorists can cause

          3  not only tragedy to thousands of families, but also

          4  billions of dollars in lost local and state

          5  government revenues.

          6                 Those who lived through this

          7  terrorist attack of September 11th, are sober about

          8  the possibility that future attacks cannot be ruled

          9  out.  We are eager to see the country learn from

         10  this horror.  This legislation clearly shows an

         11  ability and a willingness to learn from the

         12  experiences of September 11th.

         13                 As with all funding under the

         14  Stafford Acts, there should be clear standards for

         15  arriving at estimates of tax loss. It would be fully

         16  appropriate in our opinion for the loan to be made

         17  to states and localities based on preliminary

         18  estimates, with an accounting after the fact that

         19  carefully reviews actual tax losses and actual

         20  estimates of losses due to the disaster, and makes

         21  appropriate adjustments at that stage giving money

         22  back to the federal government or having the

         23  government give more.

         24                 Finally, I cannot leave you today

         25  without touching for a moment on a clearly related
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          2  matter, and one of the top priorities of the Labor

          3  Community Advocacy Network, the need for a

          4  meaningful program for job creation to replace the

          5  jobs lost by the disaster of September 11th.  No

          6  matter what group I talk with from the New York City

          7  Arts Coalition, to the New York Immigration

          8  Coalition, and any number of others, the top

          9  priority is getting jobs back in the City economy.

         10                 After the September 11th disaster,

         11  the federal government allocated $2.7 billion for

         12  funds for economic rebuilding.  There is over a

         13  billion dollars of this money that still has not

         14  been allocated.  At a time when there are very

         15  serious budget gaps, and an economic downturn in the

         16  City that is far more severe than is generally

         17  appreciated.  It is an outrage that this money is

         18  still in the hands of the Lower Manhattan

         19  Development Corporation.  It should be allocated as

         20  soon as possible for a real job creation program

         21  that puts back the 75,000 jobs lost to New York

         22  Economy after September 11th.

         23                 I would like to thank the City

         24  Council for its work on housing, which has focused

         25  on the priorities of the Liberty Bond Housing
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          2  Coalition, which in turn is a spin- off of LCAN.  I

          3  hope the City Council can bring a similar attention

          4  to the job creation.

          5                 Thank you very much for your time.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Kallick.  Do any of my colleagues have any

          8  questions?  Thank you.

          9                 MR. KALLICK:  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  I would now like

         11  the Committee to turn their attention to Proposed

         12  Resolution 497- A, calling upon Congress to enact

         13  the America's Better Classroom Act.  No one can

         14  dispute the fact that a significant number of our

         15  schools are overcrowded, aging and in need of

         16  serious repairs.  Research has proven that the

         17  learning environment impacts on our children's

         18  ability to learn in school.  This act would provide

         19  more than one billion in bonding authority for

         20  building, repairing, and modernizing school

         21  buildings.

         22                 Finance Committee, Chair Weprin,

         23  would like to address some of the financial aspects

         24  of this legislation.  And then Council Member Sears,

         25  the prime sponsor of this resolution will also be
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          2  saying a few words.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

          5  Chairwoman Baez. The America's Better Classroom Act,

          6  which would help our City's public schools along the

          7  same lines as parts of the Council's Education First

          8  platform of last spring.  This legislation would

          9  provide the City with about $1.5 billion dollars in

         10  bonding authority.  The City would issue these

         11  bonds, but would not have to pay interest on them to

         12  the bond holders.  Instead, bond holders would

         13  receive a return on their investment in the form of

         14  federal tax credits.  This could save the City

         15  several hundreds of millions of dollars in interest

         16  payments over the life of the bonds.

         17                 Council Member Sears, would you like

         18  to say something on the legislation?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you very

         20  much, Mr. Chairman.  Yes, first, I really want to

         21  thank Chairman Weprin and Chairwoman Baez for the

         22  speed in which they have moved this resolution

         23  along.  I particularly thank staff and Jim Caras,

         24  because they gave very detailed analysis so that

         25  this could move along.
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          2                 I just wish to say that if this

          3  moves, and if we can get more Congressional people

          4  to sign onto this, it can be moved out of the house

          5  very quickly.  As Chairman Weprin has stated, the

          6  monies that could be saved for New York City, and

          7  you have just heard a great deal of testimony as to

          8  what we do not have that we need to look at every

          9  aspect that we would be able to save money and

         10  divert those monies into those areas of which there

         11  is such a shortfall.  So I really thank the

         12  Committee members and the Chairs, and hopefully, we

         13  will be able to move this along in Congress and do

         14  the job that it is supposed to do.

         15                 And so, I thank you, and I thank the

         16  Committee members.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, and we

         18  have Noreen Connell, from the Educational Priorities

         19  Panel to testify on this legislation.  Ms. Connell.

         20                 MS. CONNELL:  Good morning.  My name

         21  is Noreen Connell.  I am the Executive Director of

         22  the Educational Priorities Panel, a coalition of 27

         23  civic, parent, and religious organizations that work

         24  together to improve the quality of public education

         25  for New York City's children.  Thank you for holding
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          2  this hearing.

          3                 America's network of roads and

          4  highways would not have been possible if they had

          5  been the sole responsibility of local and state

          6  governments.  There is a growing, national consensus

          7  that federal assistance is needed to help states and

          8  localities rebuild their aging schools.

          9                 The National Education Association

         10  has estimated that 322 billion is needed to meet the

         11  nation's public school infrastructure needs.  One-

         12  tenth of that amount, or 32 billion comes close to

         13  the estimates of the Comptroller Alan Hevisi and the

         14  Independent Budget Office of capital resources

         15  needed to repair school facilities in New York City

         16  and to reduce overcrowding in the elementary

         17  schools.

         18                 How did this number get so large?

         19  For 14 years following the City's fiscal crisis in

         20  mid- seventies, there was little investment in

         21  repairing or maintaining schools, so many of them

         22  fell into disrepair.  In 1984, student enrollment

         23  began to increase, but an insufficient investment

         24  was made in building new schools.  By 1989, when the

         25  first significant capital plan for the schools was
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          2  adopted since the City's fiscal crisis, schools were

          3  already overcrowded, and the capital repair backlog

          4  was huge.

          5                 By August 1998, the New York City

          6  Comptroller's Office estimated that it would still

          7  take $28 billion, over 10 years to bring New York

          8  City schools up to a state of good repair. This

          9  figure did not include an additional $2.8 billion,

         10  the New York City Independent Budget Office

         11  estimated that it would take to create enough

         12  classrooms to reduce class sizes to an average of 20

         13  students from kindergarten to third grade.

         14                 To give some perspective as to what

         15  30.6 billion represents, the City's fiscal 2001

         16  total capital budget expenditures extrapolated over

         17  10 years, adds up to 42.3 billion. This means that

         18  70 percent of total City capital expenditures would

         19  have to go to school facilities.  There was and is a

         20  lack of sufficient City resources to solve both

         21  overcrowding and disrepair in our City schools.

         22  This was true even during a relatively good economic

         23  times.

         24                 More than half of the City's capital

         25  expenditures for school repairs is ultimately funded
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          2  by the State.  The State system for sharing the cost

          3  of maintaining school facilities, called, Building

          4  Aid, reimburses school districts on average 60

          5  percent for their capital expenditures, including

          6  payments of interest and principal.

          7                 Unfortunately, because Building Aid

          8  is structured as a reimbursement, it is a spend to

          9  get financing system.  School districts that cannot

         10  spend, do not get.  This is why low- wealth school

         11  districts in the rest of the state cannot keep up

         12  with major school repairs.  There local tax base

         13  makes it difficult for them to issue bonds.  This is

         14  why it is time to recognize that we cannot have

         15  adequate school facilities without federal

         16  assistance.  Our problems in New York City are

         17  duplicated throughout the nation, especially in many

         18  urban and low- wealth rural school districts.      Even

         19  after George W. Bush assumed the Office of

         20  Presidency in January 2001, there continues to be

         21  bipartisan support in Congress for federal resources

         22  for school facilities. The Educational Priorities

         23  Panel and its member agencies have been strong

         24  supporters of various versions of America's Better

         25  Classroom Act, and in the past have assisted the New
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          2  York City Board of Education and identifying civic

          3  organizations willing to sign onto letter to the

          4  President and the leadership of the House of

          5  Representatives?

          6                 The Educational Priorities Panel

          7  urges the City Council to formally endorse this

          8  legislation, and we thank the Speaker and the Chairs

          9  of the State and Legislative Committee and the

         10  Finance Committee for the leadership they have shown

         11  in holding this hearing, and also Helen Sears.  If

         12  the federal government begins to play a larger role

         13  in rehabilitating this long neglected area of

         14  America's infrastructure, children throughout the

         15  nation and in New York City could be assured of

         16  adequate and structural environments.  The passage

         17  of the ABC Act could signal historic turn around in

         18  school facilities crisis.

         19                 Nevertheless, EPP needs to mention

         20  that this financing is also structured as a spend to

         21  get.  New York City would need to issue bonds for

         22  school repairs and construction in order to benefit

         23  from the ABC Act, and would still be responsible for

         24  payments of principal.

         25                 In closing, the Educational
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          2  Priorities Panel makes a request to both Committees

          3  and their staff, really.  The May 2002 Lear

          4  Commission Report prepared for Chancellor Levi,

          5  outlined strategies to end roadblocks to the

          6  expansion of a leasing program, it is on pages 42-

          7  45.  One of them is to utilize the federal

          8  qualified, public educational facility program.

          9  This existing program allows the City to access up

         10  to $190 million a year in bonding capacity.  Private

         11  developers could use these bonds to rehabilitate

         12  facilities to convert them into schools leased by

         13  the City.  This debt would not count towards the

         14  City's general obligations debt limit under the

         15  State Constitution.

         16                 We would like to know if the City or

         17  the Department of Education is participating in the

         18  QPEC Program, and if so, whether the capital funds

         19  raised are dedicated to reducing overcrowding, or to

         20  some other purpose?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Ms.

         22  Connell.  Any questions?  Thank you.  I am sure we

         23  will see as the budget process progresses, because I

         24  know your organization plays a very leadership role

         25  in educational issues, as well as other issues that
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          2  are going to be impacted by the proposed budget.

          3  So, I look forward to seeing you during the process

          4  and taking input from you on how we can jointly

          5  solve this crisis.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  We are going to

          7  take a two- minute recess, we are waiting for Joel

          8  Rivera, he is in route here.  Thank you.

          9                 (Recess taken.)

         10                 Okay, the Committee will now vote on

         11  the two Resolutions, 542 and 497- A.  Before we do

         12  that, Jim Caras will read a statement from Council

         13  Member Lew Fidler.

         14                 MR. CARAS:  "To the members of the

         15  State and Federal Legislation and Finance

         16  Committees, from Council Member Fidler. Due to the

         17  late scheduling of today's hearing, I was

         18  unfortunately unable to rearrange my schedule as to

         19  attend today's meeting. Nonetheless, I could not be

         20  more emphatic in urging all my colleagues to support

         21  both Resolution 542, calling for the amendment of

         22  the Community Disaster Loan provisions of the

         23  Stafford Act, and Resolution 497- A, a Better

         24  Classroom Act.

         25                 I particularly urge support for
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          2  Resolution 542, of which I have recently signed onto

          3  as a cosponsor."

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Baez:

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Aye on both.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Rivera.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Aye on all.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Aye on all.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Dilan.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Aye on all.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sears.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Aye on all.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 5 in the

         15  affirmative, 9 in the negative, and no abstentions,

         16  the items are adopted, and the vote will remain

         17  open.  Council members, please sign the Committee

         18  report.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, this joint

         20  hearing of the City Council's Finance Committee and

         21  the Committee on State and Federal Legislation is

         22  now adjourned, but the roll will be open for the

         23  State and Federal Legislation Committee to continue

         24  to vote.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:  I vote aye on
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          2  both.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The vote now stands 6

          4  in the affirmative, 0 in the negative, and no

          5  abstentions.

          6                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:05 p.m.)
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